RECEIVED

Jun 29 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARK THOMAS FRICK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000611

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err by refusing to instruct the jury on the affirmative defense of entrapment when there was evidence to support the charge?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lexington County grand jury indicted Appellant on August 7, 2023, for criminal solicitation of a minor, and on March 10, 2025, for attempted sexual exploitation of a minor in the first degree. R. 156 – 159. His case was called to trial on March 24, 2025, before the Honorable Debra McCaslin, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Attorneys General Stephen Ryan and Michelle Pappas represented the state. Stephen Story and Erin Conroy represented Appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on March 26, 2025, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 95, ll. 3-10. He was sentenced to ten years for attempted sexual exploitation of a minor in the first degree and four years for criminal solicitation of a minor. The sentences were ordered to be served consecutively for an aggregate sentence of fourteen years imprisonment. R. 108, ll. 17-23.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Because the question of entrapment is generally one for the jury, an appellate court reviews the trial court’s decision not to give an entrapment instruction *de novo*.” State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 264, 607 S.E.2d 93, 96 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing United States v. Singh, 54 F.3d 1182, 1189 (4th Cir. 1995) (“The district court’s decision not to give an entrapment instruction is a question of law which we review *de novo*.”)).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the affirmative defense of entrapment when there was evidence to support the charge.

Relevant Facts

In August 2021, Investigator Kenneth Clark with the Mount Pleasant Police Department was involved in an undercover operation in Lexington County as part of the Internet Crimes Against Children Task Force. Clark participated in the operation as a “chatter.” While sitting in the training facility of the Lexington County Sheriff’s Office, Clark used various applications, such as Whisper, Kik, and Omegle, to chat with strangers online. During this operation, he used the username AllieM14 and pretended to be a fourteen year old girl. R. 13, l. 17 – 15, l. 24.

While using the Whisper application, Clark engaged in a conversation with a user named Ambient_Poppins, who was later discovered to be Appellant. The two talked on a few occasions between the afternoon of August 11, 2021, and the night of August 12, 2021. Clark, using the name AllieM14, invited Appellant to AllieM14’s house in Lexington where she was supposedly staying with her aunt. AllieM14 repeatedly asked Appellant what he wanted to do with AllieM14 when he arrived. Appellant responded, “Just bring you food” and “Hold your hand and hug you than go home.” AllieM14 replied, “Ughh. I want 2 have funn.” After Appellant again stated he would bring AllieM14 food, AllieM14 responded, “Whatt we gone doo after we eatt.” Appellant told AllieM14 that she was “trying to get me in trouble lol.” AllieM14 replied, “Noo I’m nottt. I’m nott tellin an no1 hereee lol.” Appellant finally said, “wachth you.” AllieM14 responded, “Watch me what lol.” When Appellant said, “Watch you play with your self,” AllieM14 said, “How.” When Appellant merely responded, “At your house,” AllieM14 replied, “Like what wud I be doin.” It was only then that Appellant said, “Rubbing your pussy

while wearing panties.” AllieM14 agreed to that and asked what Appellant would be doing. Appellant responded, “Jerking.” See R. 113 – 155.

Appellant eventually agreed to bring AllieM14 food. He bought food from McDonald’s and drove to the address provided by AllieM14. Once Appellant opened the front door of the residence, he was arrested. R. 32, l. 19 – 33, l. 24.

After his arrest, Appellant was interviewed by Jason Hughes, then an investigator with the Attorney General’s Office, at the Lexington County Sheriff’s Office. The interview was audio recorded. The recording was admitted as State’s Exhibit No. 5. R. 41, l. 2 – 45, l. 17. During Appellant’s interview, he admitted to talking with a girl on Whisper. Appellant said the girl “kept bugging me to come see her” and Appellant “kept telling her basically no.” See State’s Exhibit No. 5. He eventually agreed to come see the girl. Appellant further admitted to telling the girl that “she was going to play with her thing while I sit over there and play with mine basically.” See State’s Exhibit No. 5. However, Appellant said he would not have engaged in such activity and that he only said such things because the girl “kept bugging me to say that.” See State’s Exhibit No. 5. Appellant explained that he only planned to bring the girl food and he was “gullible” and “always trusting everyone.” See State’s Exhibit No. 5. Finally, while Appellant admitted to speaking to other people on Whisper, he denied ever talking to other minors “about sexual acts.” See State’s Exhibit No. 5. He again repeated that he never would have engaged in any sexual activity with AllieM14. See State’s Exhibit No. 5.

Christine Belk, Appellant’s cousin, testified that Appellant is “an honest person” and has a reputation in the community for honesty. She further stated that Appellant is easily influenced. She explained, “Mark [Appellant] is simple-minded. Very naive. He’s a pushover. People take advantage of him. He has a hard time telling people no.” R. 57, l. 15 – 58, l. 16. Lastly, Belk

testified that Appellant worked for the Library for the Blind until he retired, that he worked for Papa John's for a long time, and that he currently worked for Pizza Hut. R. 60, ll. 2-5.

Heather Kirkland, Appellant's longtime family friend, testified that Appellant is "very brutally honest" and that anyone who knows Appellant "knows how honest he is." She also testified that Appellant is "gullible" and "naive." R. 63, l. 21 – 64, l. 5.

After the presentation of evidence, Appellant requested the judge instruct the jury on the defense of entrapment. Defense counsel argued there was sufficient evidence presented to support the two elements of entrapment. More specifically, counsel asserted there was evidence of government inducement as the undercover officer repeatedly reengaged in conversation with Appellant and attempted to get Appellant to travel to the arrest location. Counsel also argued Appellant did not have a predisposition to commit the crime. He provided the judge with a specific proposed instruction. The language of Appellant's proposed instruction was taken "substantially" from "Judge Anderson's proposed jury instruction book." R. 66, l. 20 – 67, l. 10; See R. 109 – 112.

The assistant attorney general argued there was no evidence presented to support an instruction on entrapment. Citing to State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728 (2008), the prosecutor asserted Appellant was merely provided an opportunity to commit the crime. R. 67, l. 12 – 68, l. 14.

Defense counsel countered that the standard to obtain a jury instruction is whether there is any evidence to support the charge. He argued there was some evidence to support both elements of the defense. R. 68, ll. 16-23.

The trial judge refused to charge entrapment. She found the evidence showed Appellant was merely given the opportunity to commit the crime and there was no government inducement.

She further found Appellant “seized” upon the opportunity and demonstrated a “readiness to continue the conversation.” R. 68, l. 24 – 69, l. 14.

Discussion

The trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the affirmative defense of entrapment when there was evidence to support the charge.

“Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 261, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002)). “The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial.” Id. at 261-62, 607 S.E.2d at 95 (quoting State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should grant the request.” Id. at 262, 607 S.E.2d at 95 (citing State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 632, 545 S.E.2d 805, 819 (2001)). “To warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” Id. (citing State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 450, 529 S.E.2d 721, 727 (2000)).

“The affirmative defense of entrapment is available where there is the conception and planning of an offense by an officer, and his procurement of its commission by one who would not have perpetrated it except for trickery, persuasion, or fraud of the officer.” Id. (quoting State v. Johnson, 295 S.C. 215, 216, 367 S.E.2d 700, 701 (1988)) (internal quotation marks omitted); See State v. Jacobs, 238 S.C. 234, 244, 119 S.E.2d 735, 740 (1961). “It is a well settled principle of law that the defense of entrapment is not available to a defendant exhibiting a predisposition to commit a crime independent of governmental inducement and influence.” Id. (quoting Johnson, 295 S.C. at 217, 367 S.E.2d at 701) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Thus, the

entrapment defense consists of two elements: (1) government inducement, and (2) lack of predisposition.” Id. (citing Matthews v. United States, 485 U.S. 58, 63 (1988)).

The United States Supreme Court explained the rationale underlying the defense of entrapment as follows:

When the criminal design originates, not with the accused, but is conceived in the mind of the government officers, and the accused is by persuasion, deceitful representation, or inducement lured into the commission of a criminal act, the government is estopped by sound public policy from prosecution therefor.

Id. (quoting Sorrells v. United States, 287 U.S. 435, 445 (1932)).

“One pleading entrapment has the burden of showing that he was induced, tricked or incited to commit a crime, which he would not otherwise have committed.” Id. (quoting Johnson, 295 S.C. at 217, 367 S.E.2d at 701) (internal quotation marks omitted); See Babb v. State, 240 S.C. 235, 237, 125 S.E.2d 467, 467 (1962) (“Entrapment is an affirmative defense to the crime charged and imposes upon the accused the burden of showing that he was induced to commit the act for which he is being prosecuted.”). “The defendant has the initial burden to produce more than a scintilla of evidence that the government induced him to commit the charged offense, before the burden shifts to the government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was predisposed to commit the crime.” Id. at 263, 607 S.E.2d at 95 (quoting United States v. Sligh, 142 F.3d 761, 762 (4th Cir. 1998)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “A defendant is not entitled to an entrapment instruction unless he can meet this initial burden of producing some evidence of government inducement.” Id. (quoting Sligh, 142 F.3d at 762-63). “Thus, ‘the court may find as a matter of law that no entrapment existed, when there is no evidence in the record that, if believed by the jury, would show that the government’s conduct created a substantial risk that the offense would be committed by a person other than one ready and willing to commit it.’” Id. (quoting United States v. Osborne, 935 F.2d 32, 38 (4th Cir. 1991)).

In State v. Brown, this Court held the trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the defense of entrapment. Brown was charged with distribution of cocaine after he sold cocaine to a confidential informant working with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED). Agent William Kimble met with Harold Anderson, a paid confidential informant, to conduct a controlled purchase of cocaine from Brown in Beaufort. Id. at 260, 607 S.E.2d at 94. The operation was initiated by SLED as a result of a discussion with the Georgia Bureau of Investigations, the organization for which Anderson, who had pending charges in Georgia, primarily worked. Id. “Although several officers with the narcotics division of the Beaufort County Sheriff’s Department assisted in the operation, they had no prior knowledge of any alleged drug dealing by Brown.” Id.

Anderson spoke with Brown several times by telephone during the day of the controlled buy to arrange the deal. Id. Based on these conversations, Kimble and Anderson drove together to Brown’s place of employment. Id. Brown met with them inside, but did not conduct the requested transaction. Id. Instead, he asked Anderson and Kimble to wait an hour so that he could get the drugs. Id. Brown called after that time and the group agreed to meet at Burger King. Id. Because Brown refused to deal directly with Kimble, Kimble gave Anderson \$200 in marked cash to complete the transaction. Id. When Anderson got into the car with Brown, he gave Brown the money in exchange for 3.16 grams of cocaine. Id. at 260-61, 607 S.E.2d at 94.

This Court held there was evidence to suggest that law enforcement instigated the drug transaction because Anderson, Brown’s friend and a paid informant, initiated the meeting by calling Brown several times the day of the transaction. Id. at 264, 607 S.E.2d at 96. The Court concluded this was some evidence of inducement.

The Court also determined there was evidence indicating Brown's lack of predisposition to commit the offense of distribution, including (1) Brown was a retired Army first sergeant who was honorably discharged; (2) he was gainfully employed and declined to conduct the transaction at his place of business; (3) the cocaine was not readily accessible to Brown given Anderson and Kimble had to wait approximately an hour and a half between the time of the request and the actual sale; (4) at the time of his arrest, Brown did not have any other drugs in his possession or a significant amount of cash other than the \$200 in marked money; (5) aside from the controlled buy, SLED agents and officers with the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department had not previously purchased drugs from Brown nor did they have any knowledge that Brown had engaged in drug activity; (6) there was no evidence of any prior drug transactions between Anderson and Brown; and (7) when Brown gave a statement to investigating officers, he denied being a drug dealer and claimed that he made the sale for a friend. Id. at 264-65, 607 S.E.2d at 96.

This Court ultimately reversed Brown's conviction holding he was prejudiced by the trial judge's failure to charge entrapment because entrapment was Brown's only defense. Id. at 265, 607 S.E.2d at 97.

By comparison, however, in State v. Cooper, this Court held the trial judge correctly declined to charge the jury on the defense of entrapment. 302 S.C. 184, 185, 394 S.E.2d 717, 718 (Ct. App. 1990). Cooper was convicted of criminal conspiracy and distribution of crack cocaine. Id. Cooper bought crack cocaine from a dealer with money supplied by an undercover agent and then delivered the crack cocaine to the agent. Id. This Court found Cooper was predisposed to commit distribution of crack cocaine given that she was "an admitted purchaser and two to three times a week user of crack cocaine." Id. This Court emphasized that Cooper's

“own testimony shows she participated in the drug buy expecting to share in the purchase . . . [and] the undercover agent gave her a portion of the crack cocaine.” Id. at 186, 394 S.E.2d at 718. Finally, this Court concluded that the evidence showed “Cooper engaged in illegal activity because of her own preexisting readiness to do so and not because of incessant demands made upon her by the undercover agent.” Id.

Additionally, in State v. Gaines, our Supreme Court held Gaines was not entitled to a jury instruction on the affirmative defense of entrapment during his trial for three counts of criminal solicitation of a minor. 380 S.C. at 26, 667 S.E.2d at 730. Using the name HMMRTHEGRT8, Gaines communicated in online chat rooms with a person he believed to be a twelve year old girl in Philadelphia. Id. Gaines encouraged the girl, LilAshleyPA, to travel to Greenville, South Carolina to see him and repeatedly made detailed sexual references as to how he wanted to spend time with her when she arrived in South Carolina. Id. at 26-27, 667 S.E.2d at 730. LilAshleyPA was actually an undercover detective in Pennsylvania. Id. at 27, 667 S.E.2d at 730. Upon obtaining Gaines’ identification and discovering he lived in South Carolina, the detective referred the matter to law enforcement in South Carolina. Id. Thereafter, SLED agents created the screen name Allyinsc13 and contacted HMMRTHEGRT8 online saying “hey.” Id. Gaines responded and the two began to chat. Id. After learning that Allyinsc13 was a thirteen year old living in Columbia and disclosing that he was twenty-eight years old, Gaines suggested the two meet for the purpose of engaging in sexual intercourse. Id. The chats continued for roughly three months during which Gaines proposed renting a hotel room and theorized the details of their first sexual encounter. Id. Law enforcement received a court order to obtain HMMRTHEGRT8’s records from AOL and executed a search warrant at the home he shared with his parents. Id.

The Supreme Court held “the mere fact that Gaines’ initial contact with Allyinsc13 was instigated by a SLED agent contacting him and stating, ‘hey’ does not entitle him to an entrapment instruction.” Id. at 31, 667 S.E.2d at 732. The Court concluded that the initial contact merely afforded Gaines the opportunity to solicit sex and that Gaines was in no way induced to commit the crime of criminal solicitation of a minor. Id. Accordingly, the Court held the trial judge properly denied Gaines’ request for an entrapment instruction. Id.

In this case, there was evidence to support both elements of entrapment. There was evidence Appellant was induced, tricked, incited, and persuaded to commit the crime by law enforcement. While Appellant offered to come see AllieM14, his offer was limited to bringing her pizza or some other food and giving her a hug. It was only after AllieM14’s repeated encouragement and persuasion that Appellant stated he would engage in other activities. For example, after AllieM14’s urging, Appellant said he would hold her hand, kiss her hand, give her a hug, but would then “go home.” This was unsatisfactory to AllieM14. She responded, “Ughh. I want 2 have funn.” She then asked Appellant what they were going to do after they ate. Appellant told her that she was trying to get him into trouble. AllieM14 assured Appellant that she was not, that she would not tell anyone, and that no one else was present. After this trickery, Appellant then said he would watch her. AllieM14 continued to encourage Appellant to engage in this illegal conduct. She asked him, “Watch me what lol.” When Appellant said, “Watch you play with your self,” AllieM14 said, “How.” When Appellant merely responded, “At your house,” AllieM14 replied, “Like what wud I be doin.” It was only then, after this repeated incitement, that Appellant said, “Rubbing your pussy while wearing panties.” AllieM14 agreed to that and asked what Appellant would be doing. Appellant responded, “Jerking.” AllieM14 then asked Appellant what time he was coming over continuing to induce Appellant to commit

the crime. The chat itself is evidence that law enforcement, pretending to be a fourteen year old girl, induced, encouraged, and incited Appellant to commit the crime.

This evidence differs significantly from the evidence in Gaines, where our Supreme Court held Gaines was not entitled to an instruction on entrapment. In Gaines, the defendant suggested he and the thirteen year old girl meet for the purpose of engaging in sexual intercourse. Gaines proposed renting a hotel room and he theorized the details of their first sexual encounter. Gaines, 380 S.C. at 27, 667 S.E.2d at 730. However, here, Appellant made no similar suggestion. Appellant merely offered to bring AllieM14 pizza or other food and give her a hug. It was only after AllieM14's repeated encouragement and incitement that Appellant stated he would watch her engage in sexual activity.

Additionally, there was evidence Appellant was not predisposed to commit the crime, including (1) Appellant had a reputation for honesty in the community; (2) he was a lonely, naive, and gullible person; (3) he was gainfully employed and had no prior criminal record; (4) Appellant told AllieM14 that she was trying to get him into trouble and he was very reluctant, indicating he was not inclined to engage in the conduct and only did so at her behest; (5) when Appellant gave a statement to law enforcement he denied ever talking to other minors "about sexual acts" and maintained he would not have engaged in any sexual activity with AllieM14 and only said such things because the girl "kept bugging me to say that;" and (6) there was no evidence Appellant had attempted to solicit a minor before or had previously engaged in sexual conduct with a minor. Again, this evidence differs significantly from the evidence in Gaines, where law enforcement was aware Gaines had previously solicited a minor in Pennsylvania and Gaines readily and repeatedly suggested he and Allyinsc13 meet to engage in sexual intercourse. Gaines, 380 S.C. at 26-27, 667 S.E.2d at 730.