RECEIVED

Jul 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Hon. Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000611

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MARK THOMAS FRICK,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main St.
Suite 306
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Appellant contends that his case is distinguishable because unlike in Gaines, where the defendant suggested meeting up to have sex, proposed renting a hotel room, and theorized about the details of the sexual encounter, Appellant "made no similar suggestion." [IBOA, 13]. The record refutes this assertion. Appellant engaged in nearly all the same behaviors as the defendant in Gaines. Appellant repeatedly alluded to sex throughout the conversation, explicitly described what he'd planned for their sexual encounter, and repeatedly pushed for an in-person meeting. The main difference between the defendant in Gaines and Appellant is

that, unlike Gaines, Appellant was the one to reach out to Allie. Moreover, while Appellant was initially less sexually aggressive than the defendant in Gaines, his reliance on innuendo and suggestion remains evidence of his intent, particularly in light of his later explicit messages that he wanted to engage in mutual masturbation. The chat logs are undisputed evidence that the idea to solicit Allie and commit SEM originated with Appellant, as Appellant was both the first person to suggest they engage in sexual behavior and the first person to suggest meeting in person.

b. Appellant's behavior demonstrated a willingness to engage in the crimes charged.

Appellant did not need to be convinced to engage in these sex crimes. Instead, Appellant repeatedly declined opportunities to withdraw, persistently pushed for Allie to meet him in-person, and re-engaged in explicitly sexual conversation when Allie failed to reply quickly enough.

i. Failure to Withdraw.

In the course of Appellant's conversation with Allie, law enforcement gave him multiple opportunities to withdraw, starting after Appellant acknowledged both Allie's age and the inappropriate nature of the conversation. Allie responded to his messages stating, "I understand if ya don't want 2 talk 2 me." Appellant did not take that opportunity, and instead reassured Allie, "I talk with you." In total, Appellant was given five opportunities to move the conversation away from romance and sex, ("Sorrriyy. I want say it no more," "Yyyy U said thattt," "What u mean," "If that's all u want then that's all u want lol," "Reallyyy lol"), and four

opportunities to withdraw entirely (“I understand if ya don’t want 2 talk 2 me,” “You want me 2 leave u alone so u can watch ittt,” “Okk. If that’s what u want 2 do,” “R u lyin about comin here.”), none of which he took.

Instead of withdrawing, Appellant repeatedly re-initiated the chat when conversation lulled, sending “Hi” to Allie at 11:09pm, and then “Good morning” at 8:44am the next day. During another lull later that day, Appellant sent “At the movies now,” to re-initiate contact with Allie before he transitioned to requesting to meet her in-person. Appellant’s persistent side-stepping of every one of these opportunities to withdraw in favor of sexually pursuing Ally with the end-goal of an in-person meet up shows Appellant was not “tricked” into his attempted sex crimes. See U.S. v. Rutgeron, 822 F.3d 1223 (11th Cir. 2016) (holding there was no evidence of entrapment when defendant made initial contact with decoy and pursued her despite her repeated references to being underage, and did not back out of meeting with girl despite numerous opportunities to do so); State v. Smith, 548 P.3d 874 (Utah 2024) (holding defendant failed to demonstrate entrapment as a matter of law when defendant initiated the chat, re-initiated conversation during lulls, ignored multiple opportunities to exit or de-escalate the conversation and repeatedly suggested illegal acts he wanted to perform).

ii. Insistence on in-person meet up.

Appellant’s repeated attempts to get Allie to meet him in person are strong evidence of his readiness to solicit and exploit Allie. It was Appellant, not the undercover officer writing as Allie, who first suggested in-person contact, writing

“[w]ish I hand [sic] out with... Like take you to the movies. Nothing sexual.” After this, Appellant mentioned visiting Allie in person **nine more times**⁶ before they eventually made plans for him to come to Allie’s house.

Even when given the opportunity to withdraw from the in-person meet-up, Appellant was insistent that he and Allie meet, as demonstrated by this exchange directly before Appellant attempted to meet Allie at her home:

APPELLANT: Just bring you food. Hold your hand and hug you than go home

ALLIE: Ugh. I want 2 have funn

APPELLANT: Ok. Am leaving the movies. Going home I guess

ALLIE: **Okk. If that’s what u want 2 do**

APPELLANT: **No I want to come meet you**

[R. 141–142] [emphasis added]. Appellant was under no pressure from law enforcement to continue the encounter.

There is no credible argument that Appellant had non-criminal motivations for meeting with Allie. First, Appellant offered an explicit description of the sex act he wanted to engage in with Allie when he arrived. Second, even the non-explicit parts of the conversation are demonstrative of Appellant’s sexual intent. For example, after Appellant suggested an in-person meet up he also asked a number of questions about where Allie’s aunt worked and whether her aunt was home in an apparent effort to determine whether and for how long Allie would be alone that day. Moreover, despite Allie telling Appellant she lived in Charleston but was

⁶ “I bring you pizza,” “I would,” “Bring you pizza,” “I come see you,” “Wish yiu was hete to” [sic], “I bring yiu something” [sic], “No I want to come meet you,” “I bring you food,” “No I come see you.”

staying with her aunt for the next few days, Appellant asked, completely unprompted, “Where your dad.” Appellant wanted to make sure that she was completely alone, without any adult supervision. There is no reason a well-meaning adult stranger would need to establish that a minor’s parents were absent before going to see that minor in person.

Appellant’s intentions were made all the more clear when, after discussing the explicit sex acts he wished to participate in with Allie, he actually showed up at the provided location. See United States v. Dávila-Nieves, 670 F.3d 1, 10 (1st Cir. 2012) (affirming the denial of an entrapment defense when defendant “not only broached the topic of engaging in sexual relations but also followed through by attempting to meet for that purpose”) (citation and quotation omitted).

iii. Re-engaging in sexual conversation.

Finally, Appellant’s assertion that he was “bugged” into making explicit sexual comments to Allie is fatally undercut by the fact that he actively re-engaged an explicitly sexual line of conversation with Allie when the conversation lulled. Directly before Appellant proposed mutual self-stimulation, the following exchange occurred:

APPELLANT: No I want to come meet you

ALLIE: Welll. It depends on what ya want 2 dooo boo. I’m fixin 2 get n shower

APPELLANT: Ok. You gonna wear purple. I bring you food

ALLIE: Depends lol. Whatt we gone doo after we eattt

APPELLANT: You trying to get me in trouble lol. Am scare

ALLIE: No I’m nottt. I’m nott tellin an no1 here lol

APPELLANT: Ok. Wacth you.

At this point, the timestamp feature on Whisper shows that there was a lull in the conversation. Because Allie did not immediately respond back, Whisper's automatic timestamp feature was triggered when Appellant sent his next message, indicating there was a time gap between the two messages.⁷ The next set of messages read:

TIMESTAMP: Today, 7:33 PM
APPELLANT: Wyd
ALLIE: Watch me what lol. Jus sittin here boredd
APPELLANT: Oh. Watch you play with your self
ALLIE: Likee yea. How
APPELLANT: At your housr. House
ALLIE: Yaaa. Like what wud I be doin
APPELLANT: Rubbing your pussy while wearing your
panties

Appellant messaged Allie he wanted to “watch” her, then had time to sit and reflect on that message. When he did not get a quick response he sent another message to re-engage Allie. This timestamp is objective evidence that Appellant intentionally re-engaged an explicitly sexual conversation of his own free will, without encouragement, after having had time to reflect.

c. Law enforcement did not cross the threshold into improper inducement while messaging Appellant as Allie.

Law enforcement did not engage in “trickery, persuasion, or fraud” to induce Appellant to undertake criminal action. Johnson, 295 S.C. at 216, 367 S.E.2d at 701. The State's actions in this case fell well below the bar for entrapment. In Gaines, the supreme court specifically found that law enforcement reaching out to

⁷ A review of Appellant's chat log with Allie shows that a message sent at 3pm that did not receive a response until 3:50pm was headed by a timestamp, indicating that Whisper creates timestamps for gaps in conversations that are, at minimum, 50 minutes long. [R. 129].

the defendant with a decoy account portraying a child receptive to the defendant's advances merely provided the defendant with opportunity and was not inducement. Moreover, South Carolina courts have consistently held that "inducement" requires more than just a suggestion of willingness from the State, and instead requires some level of improper means like capitalizing on non-criminal motivations or by manipulating sentimental relationships. See State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 264, 607 S.E.2d 93, 96 (Ct. App. 2004) (holding law enforcement instigated drug transaction when informant was defendant's friend and was prompted by the police to contact defendant, and informant repeatedly called defendant throughout the day to secure the transaction); Johnson, 295 S.C. at 216, 367 S.E.2d at 701 (holding there was evidence of entrapment when the State used defendant's close personal relationship with informant to convince defendant to purchase the drugs).

Even the most suggestive of Allie's messages—"I wuddd likeee that 2. What else [sic]," "I'm down 4 anything," "What else we gone do tho. Just want 2 no how to prepare [sic]," "I want 2 have fun"—were statements of receptivity and requests for details, both of which law enforcement were allowed to make to "secure the evidence necessary to prosecute" Appellant. See State v. Jacobs, 238 S.C. 234, 244, 119 S.E.2d 735, 740 (1961) ("It may therefore be stated as a general rule that where... the courts are agreed that if the criminal intent originates in the mind of the accused and the criminal offense is completed, the fact that an opportunity is furnished or that the accused is aided in the commission of the crime in order to secure the evidence necessary to prosecute him therefor constitutes no defense.")

(quotation omitted); see also U.S. v. Shinn, 681 F.3d 924, 930-31 (8th Cir. 2012) (holding that law enforcement’s portrayal of the decoy as sexually precocious and interested in the defendant’s advances was not evidence sufficient to warrant an entrapment instruction); State v. Carver, 195 N.E.3d 598 (Ohio Ct. App. 8th Dist. 2022) (holding defendant’s reluctance to give direct answers about his intentions with victim was objectively motivated by self-preservation, not a reluctance to engage in criminal activity, and officer offered nothing more than an opportunity to commit the offense). Allie’s messages were solely focused on getting Appellant to provide more details about what he wanted to do.

Appellant failed to identify any non-criminal motivation or improper pressure that could explain why he texted Allie explicit sexual suggestions absent his own criminal designs to solicit a minor. At the time these messages were sent, Appellant was a fifty-three-year-old man communicating asynchronously online with someone he believed to be a fourteen-year-old girl. He was under no pressure to continue the conversation, or to make sexual statements. He had every opportunity to end or redirect the conversation, and absent his own criminal intentions to have sex with a minor there was absolutely no reason for Appellant to tell Allie he wanted to “jerk” while she was “rubbing [her] pussy while wearing [her] panties.” Appellant was not induced to contact Allie, he required absolutely no persuasion to meet her in person—in fact he made repeated and persistent unprompted requests to meet Allie alone at her house— and he was not incited to start “[j]erking. . . [d]oing that now,”

as he fantasized about the sexual abuse he planned to engage in with Allie when he came over.

South Carolina entrapment jurisprudence draws “a line... between the trap for the unwary innocent and the trap for the unwary criminal.” Jacobs, 238 S.C. at 245, 119 S.E.2d at 741. Accordingly, because Appellant’s criminal design plainly originated with Appellant and there is no innocent explanation for why Appellant would make the above explicit statements absent his own desire to have criminal sexual contact with a child, law enforcement’s repeated requests for more details were not inducement, incitement, or trickery, but were instead merely “a trap for the unwary criminal.” Id.

The precedent set by Gaines is dispositive in Appellant’s case. Because the undisputed evidence showed Appellant originated the criminal design, had a plan to solicit and exploit Allie, and was not influenced by improper inducement on the part of the State, the trial court correctly refused to charge the jury on the affirmative defense of entrapment.

Appellant was predisposed to commit solicitation and attempted sexual exploitation of a minor.

Because Appellant failed to meet his burden to show inducement on the part of the State, the State did not need to rebut his assertion that he had a lack of predisposition to commit the crimes charged. However, even if Appellant had succeeded in showing inducement he would still not have been entitled to an entrapment instruction, as the evidence conclusively showed that Appellant was predisposed to solicit and exploit Allie.

Appellant's behavior in the chat demonstrates his predisposition.

Predisposition exists where "the defendant is of a frame of mind such that, once his attention is called to the criminal opportunity, his decision to commit the crime is the product of his own preference and not the product of government persuasion." United States v. Osborne, 935 F.2d 32, 38 (4th Cir. 1991); see also United States v. Hackley, 662 F.3d 671, 682 (4th Cir. 2011); U.S. v. Ramos, 462 F.3d 329, 334–35 (4th Cir. 2006).

Appellant relies on State v. Brown to support his contention that the character testimony given at trial established Appellant's lack of predisposition to engage in the charged crimes. State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 607 S.E.2d 93 (Ct. App. 2004). But unlike in Brown, where the defendant was approached by a government informant, Appellant was the one who initiated contact with Allie. And unlike in Brown, where the defendant's conduct was inconsistent with the expected behavior of a drug dealer, Appellant's conduct demonstrated all of the expected characteristics of an online predator. Specifically, in Brown the vast majority of the predisposition characteristics considered— like the lack of cash, the lack of other drugs, and Brown's gainful employment— were offered to demonstrate that Brown possessed none of the expected characteristics of a drug dealer.⁸ Appellant's

⁸ Specifically, the court in Brown concluded the evidence presented at trial demonstrated a lack of predisposition by Brown to commit distribution, namely evidence that Brown sold the drugs to a friend at the friend's request, Brown was a retired veteran who was gainfully employed, that Brown had to go seek out the narcotics, that no other narcotics were found on Brown upon his arrest, that he had no significant amount of cash on him, no previous drug-related interactions with

conversation with “Allie” displayed all of the hallmarks of grooming and solicitation, including his inappropriate compliments, questions about where her guardians were, and attempts to paint himself as a harmless “sucker.”⁹

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